I. INTRODUCTION 

This controversy involves a challenge to the estate plan of J. 

Thomas Bernard ("Tom Bernard" or "Mr. Bernard"). The challenge 

hinges not on Mr. Bernard's testamentary intent, his testamentary 

capacity, or even the form of his testamentary documents. A challenge on 

any of those bases would require the contestants to prove their case by 

clear, cogent and convincing evidence. Instead, the trial court by summary 

judgment effectively invalidated both Mr. Bernard's last will and the last 

amendment to his trust, based solely upon an interpretation of the 

relationship between two related nonjudicial binding agreements (the 

"March TEDRA" and the "August TEDRA"). In the starkest terms, the 

trial court's decision renders irrelevant, on a lesser burden of proof, the 

last expression ofMr. Bernard's valid testamentary intent, which the 

Washington Supreme Court has declared must be the "polar star" in any 

adjudication of a will in this state. 

This error was compounded by a subsequent series of conflicting 

orders that allegedly terminated the Personal Representative's and 

Trustees' rights to appeal the trial court's decision. After finding that the 

first nonjudicial binding agreement Mr. Bernard had executed controlled 

all of his testamentary documents and prevented their further 

modification, and consequently finding the Mr. Bernard's will codicil and 

trust amendment invalid, the trial court held that the Personal 
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Representative and Trustees could not appeal that ruling, despite their 

continuing conviction that the latter documents reflected Mr. Bernard's 

last intent, and must cease defending the will admitted to probate and the 

trust amendment and instead align themselves with the will and trust 

contestants. In so doing, the trial court made itself the court of first and 

last resort for the Personal Representative and Trustees. 

Appellants therefore appeal the trial court's denial of 

reconsideration of its October 19,2012 order on Summary Judgment, and 

the oral ruling incorporated therein. They also appeal the Order holding 

that the Personal Representative and Trustees may not appeal summary 

judgment entered in a will or trust contest. Those appeals are consolidated 

before this Court and addressed in the assignments of error below. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The trial court erred in holding that: 

1. The first nonjudicial binding agreement ("March TEDRA") 

expressly required a court order to modify the March TEDRA. 

2. The March TEDRA could not be nonjudicially amended by 

a later nonjudicial binding agreement ("August TEDRA"). 

3. Because the Court found the August TEDRA invalid, the 

Codicil and Amendment to the Trust were also invalid and ineffective. 

4. The Button case prohibited amendment of the Trust absent 

a Court Order approving the proposed amendment. 
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5. The Personal Representative and the Trustee cannot appeal 

a summary judgment ruling invalidating the Codicil and Amendment. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Mr. Bernard and his Son Entered into the March TEDRA, 
March Trust Agreement and Will to Protect Mr. Bernard's 
Assets During his Final Illness. 

Tom Bernard enjoyed a successful career as a real estate 

developer. CP 171. His first wife predeceased him, and his second 

marriage ended in divorce. CP 142 & 182. Thus, his sole immediate 

family member was his adopted son, James. CP 5,173 & 182. Sadly, in 

2008, at the age of 64, Mr. Bernard developed frontal lobe dementia. CP 

1042 & 1049. That disease ultimately took his life. CP 1039-1052. 

Soon after Mr. Bernard's diagnosis, James became concerned with 

his father's health and safety, stemming primarily from financial predators 

hawking artwork at grossly inflated prices. CP 183-184, 187-188. 

Concerned that his father could become vulnerable, James filed a petition 

for guardianship in April 2008 1• CP 410-419. On March 9, 2009, Mr. 

Bernard moved to dismiss the guardianship petition. CP 410-419. The 

guardianship petition had languished for almost a year and James had 

failed to prosecute the action. Id. James did not conduct any discovery 

and was no longer represented by counsel. Id. Furthermore, the Guardian 

I Mr. Bernard objected to the guardianship petition, but importantly, for the purposes of 
this appeal, and the underlying motion for summary judgment, Mr. Bernard is presumed 
to have capacity. 
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ad Litem had not filed interim reports as required by RCW 11.88.090. Id. 

The petition was granted and the Order dismissing the guardianship 

petition was entered on March 27, 2009. CP 420-42l. 

Guardianship was clearly not the proper remedy to address Mr. 

Bernard's anticipated decline, and James and Mr. Bernard agreed that less 

restrictive alternatives might be beneficial, especially in serving to insulate 

Mr. Bernard from potential predators. Mr. Bernard agreed to transfer his 

assets to a revocable living trust and designated independent co-trustees. 

CP 447-450. Mr. Bernard contacted his business lawyer, Kenneth Hart, 

and his divorce counsel, Douglas P. Becker, and asked them to serve as 

co-trustees of his trust, along with his business partner, Daniel Reina. Id. 

These were the people with whom Mr. Bernard worked most closely on 

his business and personal matters and whom he most trusted. Id. 

Mr. Bernard retained an experienced estate planning attorney, 

Ryan Montgomery of Montgomery Purdue Blankinship & Austin PLLC, 

to prepare his estate planning documents. CP 422-425. The estate 

planning documents served a dual purpose of putting Mr. Bernard's 

trusted advisors in charge of managing his assets in the event of his 

incapacity and effectuating a plan to avoid a future guardianship 

proceeding. Id. Because an irrevocable trust would have negative gift tax 

consequences, Mr. Montgomery proposed a revocable trust with a notice 

requirement to James ifMr. Bernard wanted to modify the trust. Id. 
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On March 25, 2009, Mr. Bernard executed his Will and the J. 

Thomas Bernard Revocable Trust Agreement (hereinafter "Trust"). CP 4-

8,207-228,422-425. The Trust provided that, in the event of his death, 

Mr. Bernard's entire estate, including assets held in the trust, would pass 

to his son, James. CP 4-8,207-228. The Trust further provided that, if 

James did not survive Mr. Bernard, the trust estate would pass to Mr. 

Bernard's niece and nephews, in 20 percent shares to each, with the 

remainder passing to various charities. Id Mr. Montgomery and Mr. 

Bernard discussed the estate planning documents for approximately 90 

minutes, during which time Mr. Montgomery confirmed that Mr. Bernard 

met the test for testamentary capacity in that he: (1) understood the 

transaction in which he was engaged; (2) comprehended the nature and 

extent of the property which constituted his estate and of which he was 

contemplating disposition; and (3) recollected the objects of his bounty. 

Id Mr. Bernard clearly comprehended the documents, expressed his 

intent and understood that his only son James was to be the sole 

beneficiary of his estate, ifhe survived him. Id Mr. Bernard also 

understood that the Trust provided only contingent bequests for his niece 

and nephews, the Linger Parties, and, therefore, they would receive 

benefits under the Trust only if James failed to survive him. Id. 

Two days later, Mr. Bernard and James entered into a nonjudicial 

binding agreement under RCW Ch. 11.96A, the "March TEDRA." CP 

427-432. Mr. Bernard and James were the only necessary parties to that 
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agreement. Id., CP 422-425. Both Mr. Bernard and James acknowledged 

that Mr. Bernard had "full testamentary and contractual capacity to revoke 

his existing testamentary instruments and execute the Trust and Will." CP 

427-432. As stated in the March TEDRA, Mr. Bernard and James also 

agreed that establishing the Trust was "a mutually acceptable less 

restrictive alternative to a guardianship of the estate." Id. In deference to 

James' concerns regarding his anticipated decline, Mr. Bernard included 

the following language in the March TEDRA: 

Although both the Trust and Will remain revocable and/or 
modifiable by Tom during his lifetime, the Parties agree 
that no exercise of Tom's Modification Powers over either 
or both of the Trust and/or the Will shall be effective unless 
and until: 

i. Tom files a petition for a hearing under RCW 
11.96A in King County Superior court which clearly and 
specifically sets forth a particular proposal for an exercise 
of his Modification Powers. 

ii. timely provides James with a summons for such 
hearing pursuant to RCW 11.96A.100 (and otherwise 
complies with the substantive and procedural provisions of 
RCW 11.96A), and 

111. as a result of such a hearing, the court issues an 
order approving the exercise of some or all of the particular 
Modification Power(s) expressly requested in Tom's 
petition. 

CP 476. 

On June 10,2009, as authorized by RCW 11.96A230(1), a 

memorandum summarizing the terms of the March TEDRA was filed with 

the court. CP 422-425, 433-434. Pursuant to RCW 11.96A230(2), upon 
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filing, the March TEDRA was deemed approved by the court, equivalent 

to a final court order, and became binding on all persons interested in the 

estate or trust. CP 427-432, 433-434. 

B. Due to the Deterioration of his Relationship with the Linger 
Parties, Mr. Bernard Sought to Amend His Trust and Will to 
Change the Potential Distributions to His Contingent 
Beneficiaries. 

Mr. Bernard was not close to the Linger Parties. Any relationship 

they did have deteriorated over time, in part due to their constant demands 

for money. CP 376-378, 447-450. Mr. Bernard met his nephews only a 

few years prior to his death. CP 982-983. While Mr. Bernard had been 

generous to his niece, Rose Linger, financing her education and loaning 

her and the company she owned with her husband, David Linger, large 

sums of money, she refused to acknowledge these debts and refused to 

honor repayment terms. CP 376-378,447-450. Despite this failure, Rose 

continued to make demands on Mr. Bernard, including claims that as Mr. 

Bernard's only biological heir, she was entitled to own and run his 

companies. CP 382-393, 447-450. 

Matters came to a head in June 2009. On June 5, 2009, Rose made 

a demand to Mr. Bernard that he not meet with his son, James, without her 

present. CP 447-450. Later that day, while they attended a social event, 

Rose physically attacked and verbally assaulted Mr. Bernard and James. 

CP 382-393, 447-450. Rose told Mr. Bernard that because James was 

adopted, he was not Mr. Bernard's family and that therefore she should 
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receive the entirety ofMr. Bernard's estate. Id. Rose threatened to "take 

over" Mr. Bernard's companies. Id. She then proceeded to stalk Mr. 

Bernard, James, and other guests around the event. Id. She acted 

physically aggressive with James, yelling, "I'm Tom's only blood relative 

and I've been here longer than you." Id. Ultimately, security guards 

subdued and escorted Rose off the premises. Id. 

Deeply disturbed by Rose's outbursts and ultimately frustrated by 

her failure to honor her commitments to repay the loans, Mr. Bernard filed 

a lawsuit against Rose, her husband, and their company, Linger & 

Associates LLC, to collect the outstanding loans. CP 376-378, 447-450. 

He also obtained a restraining order preventing Rose and David Linger 

from contacting him, based in large part on Rose's actions on June 6, 

2009. CP 382-393,447-450. Meanwhile, during 2008 and 2009, neither 

ofMr. Bernard's nephews made any attempt to contact him. CP 40. 

Based on these events, Mr. Bernard decided to change his 

contingent beneficiaries under the Revocable Trust Agreement and 

arranged to meet with Mr. Montgomery for that purpose. CP 422, 425. 

During an August 2009 meeting with Mr. Montgomery, Mr. Bernard 

stated that "his niece and nephews 'only cared about [his] money!'" CP 

422-425. At that meeting, Mr. Montgomery again determined that Mr. 

Bernard met the standards of testamentary capacity: he understood the 

transaction, comprehended the nature and extent of the property in his 

estate, and recollected the natural objects of his bounty. CP 783-789. 
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At Mr. Bernard's direction, Mr. Montgomery prepared an 

amendment to the Trust and a codicil to his Will, which substantially 

reduced Mr. Bernard's bequests to Petitioners as contingent beneficiaries 

to cash bequests of $20,000 each. CP 239-242 & 244-247. While 

retaining several charitable organizations as contingent remainder 

beneficiaries, Mr. Bernard replaced the Linger parties as contingent 

beneficiaries of his Trust; naming instead, Leah Karp, Diane Viars, and 

Daniel Reina, three of his long-time employees ("Appellants"). Id. & CP 

425 & 447-448. The amendment to the Trust affected only the contingent 

remainder beneficiaries. Mr. Bernard's estate plan still focused on his 

nuclear family: providing for income and principal to Mr. Bernard for his 

life, with the remainder going to his then twenty-seven year old son, 

James, at his death. CP 4-8, 207-228, 9-12, 239-242. Mr. Bernard 

executed the amendment to the Trust and the codicil (hereinafter 

respectively "Trust Amendment" and "Codicil") on August 27,2009, in 

the presence of Mr. Montgomery, his legal staff, and Mr. Becker, a 

Trustee and the Personal Representative.2 CP 422-425. 

2 In its Oral Ruling incorporated in the October 19 Order, the trial court identifies the date 
of Mr. Bernard's execution of the amending documents as August 22,2009. RP 6. 
However, Mr. Montgomery's testimony and the documents themselves clearly identify 
the effective date and execution date as August 27, 2009. CP 239-242, 244-247, 422-
425,435-440, & 783-789. 
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C. To Satisfy the Three-step Process for Modification in the 
March TEDRA, Mr. Bernard and James Executed the August 
TEDRA. 

When he prepared the Trust Amendment and Codicil, Mr. 

Montgomery also prepared a second nonjudicial binding agreement, the 

"August TEDRA," to satisfy the three-step modification process set out in 

the March TEDRA. CP 422-425,783-789. As required by the March 

TEDRA, Mr. Bernard gave James notice of his intent to modify the terms 

of his Trust and Will. CP 422-425, 427-432, & 435-446. In satisfaction 

of the three-step process for modification set out in the March TEDRA, 

Mr. Bernard and James executed the August TEDRA, which 

acknowledged Mr. Bernard's desire to modify his Trust and Will, 

specifically recognized that Mr. Bernard had satisfied the notice 

requirement to James and acknowledged that "because the Modification 

Restrictions are imposed solely by virtue a/the Agreement between the 

Parties, " Mr. Bernard and James were the "sole necessary parties and 

have the power to modify such restrictions by further agreement." CP 

427-432 & 435-446 (emphasis added). Consistent with the March 

TEDRA, the August TEDRA provided that once a memorandum was filed 

with the court, "the Amended Agreement will satisfy the Agreement's 

requirement to obtain a court order prior to any exercise of Tom's 

Modification Powers." Id. The parties viewed the August TEDRA as a 

more efficient method of enabling Tom to exercise his modification 

powers. Id. 
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Both Mr. Bernard and James signed the August TEDRA, with an 

effective date of August 27,2009, the same date as Mr. Bernard executed 

the Trust Amendment and Codicil. CP 9-12, 239-242, & 435-446. Mr. 

Montgomery later filed a memorandum summarizing the August TEDRA. 

CP 422-425 & RP 7:2-4 & 8:2-6. Just as the memorandum of the March 

TEDRA had the effect of a final court order under RCW 11.96A.230, the 

execution of the August TEDRA, and filing of a memorandum 

summarizing it, became binding on all persons interested in the Trust. 

Mr. Bernard died on January 13, 2011, after battling complications 

with his dementia for several months. CP 1-3. His son and sole heir, 

James, predeceased him, dying by suicide on September 11, 2010. Id. 

D. The Linger Parties Seek to Invalidate Mr. Bernard's Estate 
Plan 

Following Mr. Bernard's death and the filing of the Will and 

Codicil by the Personal Representative, the Linger Parties filed a Petition 

to Contest Will, later amending their petition to contest the Trust 

Amendment. CP 1-3,4-8,9-12,13-14, & 979-1038. The Personal 

Representative, the Trustees, and Appellants all opposed the petition. CP 

15-18, 19-21,22-24,25-56,57-73. In their Motions for Partial Summary 

Judgment re: Trust Invalidity based on the amended petition ("Summary 

Judgment Motion"), the Linger Parties sought to invalidate both the March 

estate documents and the August estate documents. CP 111-135. 

Following extensive briefing in opposition to the Summary Judgment 
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Motion by Appellants, the Personal Representative and the Trustees, the 

trial court denied the Linger Parties' motion in its September 10, 2012 

Order Denying Petitioners' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment re: 

Trust Invalidity (the "September 10 Order"), finding material facts in 

dispute as to the validity of the March estate documents, and deferring any 

decision with regard to the August estate documents. CP 353-373, 374-

421,422-446,447-450,487-499,500-506,507-511, & 1039-1052. 

The Linger Parties sought reconsideration of the September 10 

Order solely on the trial court's deferral regarding the August estate 

documents. CP 512-519. The Linger Parties failed to appeal the 

September 10 Order as to the trial court's decision regarding the March 

estate documents, so that decision is final and unappealable. Following 

additional briefing, the trial court granted the Linger Parties' motion for 

reconsideration in its October 19 Order, incorporating its Oral Ruling 

made October 12,2012. CP 520-534,535-547,558-561, & RP 4:15-

11: 16. Appellants sought reconsideration of the October 19 Order, 

joined by the Personal Representative and the Trustees. The trial court 

ultimately denied the reconsideration in its November 16,2012 Order 

Denying Respondents' Motion for Reconsideration (the "November 16 

Order"). CP 715-827,850-853,912-917, & 935. This appeal arises, in 

part, out of the November 16 Order. CP 943-944. 
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E. Trial Court Revises Commissioner's Order, Finding Personal 
Representative and Trustees Have No Right to Appeal 

While the Motion for Reconsideration was pending, the Personal 

Representative and the Trustees filed a Petition for Instructions Regarding 

Offset Claim, Motion for Certification for Review of Order Granting 

Motion for Reconsideration of Summary Judgment Re: August Agreement 

Validity (the "Petition for Instructions") seeking, among other directions, 

the trial court's instruction as to whether the Personal Representative and 

the Trustees had a right to appeal the October 19 Order. CP 604-623, 828-

834, & 835-849. Appellants joined in support of the Petition for 

Instructions. CP 711-712 &713-714. 

On October 31, 2012, the court commissioner heard argument on 

the Petition for Instructions, and concluded that the Personal 

Representative and the Trustees "have an absolute right to appeal" the 

October 19 Order ("Commissioner's Order"). CP 854-857. However, 

upon the Linger Parties' motion, the trial court revised the 

Commissioner's Order, holding that Personal Representative and the 

Trustees "do not have the right to appeal" the October 19 Order 

("Revision Order"). CP 968-969. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

Because summary judgment may only be granted when the court 

finds there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is 
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entitled to judgment as a matter oflaw, the standard of review on appeal 

from an order on summary judgment is de novo. City of Sequim v. 

Malkasian, 157 Wn.2d 251, 138 P.3d 943 (2006); In re Parentage of 

JMK., 155 Wn. 2d 374,119 P.3d 840 (2005). Likewise, in matters 

brought under the TEDRA, the Court reviews a trial court's order revising 

a commissioner's order de novo. RCW 11.96A.200; In re Estate of 

Bracken, 175 Wn.2d 549, 562, 290 P.3d 99,105 (2012). 

The appellate court on de novo review is charged with the same 

inquiry as the trial court and should affirm the grant of summary judgment 

only if, from all the evidence, it is clear that reasonable persons could 

reach but one conclusion. In re Parentage of JMK., 155 Wn.2d at 386. 

Moreover, the evidence must be construed in the light most favorable to 

the party opposing summary judgment, and all reasonable inferences must 

be drawn in favor of that party. Miller v. Jacoby, 145 Wn.2d 65, 71, 33 

P.3d 68 (2001); Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc., 172 Wn. App. 835, 846, 

292 P.3d 779 (2013). As applied here, this principle means that it must be 

taken as established that Mr. Bernard had full testamentary capacity and 

was not unduly influenced, since Appellants presented (and the trial court 

found) genuine issues of fact as to those issues. 

As set forth below, the trial court improperly granted summary 

judgment in this case. The evidence relied on by the parties presents 

genuine issues of material fact. In addition, the trial court improperly 

decided issues of law in a manner unsupported by the statutes, the 
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statutory history and the case law. Moreover, if the trial court's decision 

is upheld, and its improperly narrow interpretation of both TEDRA and 

the caselaw is thereby affirmed, it will undercut more than twenty years of 

work by practitioners and severely restrict the practice of the entire

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