\$ 5

NO. 69608-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE ESTATE OF J. THOMAS BERNARD

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Michael L. Olver, WSBA #7031 Christopher C. Lee, WSBA #26516 Kameron L. Kirkevold, WSBA #40829 Attorneys for Respondent/ Cross Appellant Helsell Fetterman LLP 1001 4th Avenue, Suite 4200 Seattle, WA 98154 (206) 292-1144

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

RCW 11.96A.030 (2) defines "matter" as "any issue, question, or dispute." Specifically with RCW 11.96A.030 (1)(c), there must be a question regarding the trust that needs to be addressed. There was no legitimate issue, question, or dispute leading to the August document. The March TEDRA identifies a "dispute" in the third paragraph of the agreement. (CP 203.) The August document does not purport to identify any dispute, instead representing that "Tom desires, and James desires for Tom, to modify ..." (CP 236.) RCW 11.96A.220 is expressly directed to the "resolution of any matter." There was no matter to resolve. There was no question as to how the trust could be modified. A set of precise, contractual procedures were already in place for trust modification, and simply ignored on purpose.

Even the arguments of the Former Beneficiaries indicate that TEDRA is not intended merely to allow parties to create court orders as they please, but that TEDRA agreements are designed to resolve adversarial or at least controverted arguments: "when considering the definition of 'matter,' the drafters specifically intended to facilitate resolution" (Appellant's Opening Brief, p.18 (underline added)); and "Nonjudicial binding agreements are specifically contemplated as a means to resolve potential and actual disputes among interested parties." (Id. (underlined added).) The authority of TEDRA is not to be abused to give

unnecessary or unauthorized agreements the equivalent authority as a binding court order when no *bona fide* issue, question, or dispute exists.

b. Tom did not obtain the signatures of "all parties" as required by RCW 11.96A.220.

In pertinent part, RCW 11.96A.220 states: "If <u>all parties</u> agree to a resolution of any such matter, then the agreement shall be evidenced by a written agreement signed by <u>all parties</u>." (Underline added.) The August document added an additional charitable beneficiary, the U.W. School of Business, thus reducing the share of the charities set forth in his 2004 will and repeated in his March 2009 Trust. The share of the Family Beneficiaries changed from 60% of a multi-million dollar estate, to \$60,000. They were parties entitled to notice under the Three Step Process of the March TEDRA Agreement.

RCW 11.96A.030 (4)(e) and (i) and .030 (5)⁵ provide the following relevant definitions:

- (4) "Party" or "parties" means each of the following persons who has an interest in the subject of the particular proceeding and whose name and address are known to, or are reasonably ascertainable by, the petitioner:
- (e) A beneficiary, including devisees, legatees, and <u>trust</u> <u>beneficiaries</u>;

⁵ Citations in this instance are to the statutes effective at the relevant time period. RCW 11.96A.030 was amended effective 2012. The cited provisions have been renumbered in the amendment but remain substantively the same.

(i) Any other person who has an interest in the subject of the particular proceeding.

(5) "Persons interested in the estate or trust" means the trustor, if living, all persons beneficially interested in the estate or trust, persons holding powers over the trust or estate assets, the attorney general in the case of any charitable trust where the attorney general would be a necessary party to judicial proceedings concerning the trust, and any personal representative or trustee of the estate or trust.

For purposes of RCW 11.96A, a "party" is unambiguously defined as "trust beneficiary." RCW 11.96A.030 (5)(c). Any question as to whether the Family Beneficiaries and the charities as contingent beneficiary are included in the term "trust beneficiary" is answered in the affirmative by Nelsen v. Griffiths, 21 Wn. App. 489, 494, 585 P.2d 840 (Div. 1 1978) (contingent beneficiary is included in general rubric of "beneficiary") (interpreting RCW 30.30.040 recodified as RCW 11.106.040). RCW 11.106.040 states in relevant part: "beneficiary of a trust may file a petition under RCW 11.96A.080 with the superior court." Thus when read within the statutory scheme of RCW Ch. 11, a contingent beneficiary is a "trust beneficiary" and is therefore a necessary "party" under TEDRA's notice requirements, RCW 11.96A.110, and their signatures are required to create a TEDRA agreement for the purpose of RCW 11.96A.220. If they had advanced notice of these proposed changes, they could have challenged Tom's capacity and the undue

influence that was exerted on him to make these changes.

The Former Beneficiaries ask this Court to ignore all the definitional provisions of RCW 11.96A and the framework of RCW Ch.

11 when arguing that the Family Beneficiaries and the charitable beneficiaries were not parties interested in the proceedings who were required to be part of any TEDRA agreement following the March TEDRA.

Simply stated, the August document was not entered into by all parties, purposefully because given the documented incapacity and vulnerability to undue influence, the proper notice parties and a judicial officer would not have allowed the changes to be made.

The Former Beneficiaries argue that only James and Tom were necessary parties to the August document agreement because they were the only parties to the March TEDRA agreement. This reasoning ignores the fact that when Tom created the Trust other "interested parties" to the Trust were created. Prior to the March TEDRA there was no trust. The Trust and March TEDRA were signed the same day. By creating the Trust and naming alternate contingent beneficiaries, the parties created a separate class of interested parties. The alternate contingent beneficiaries became necessary parties to modify the March TEDRA. This conclusion is highlighted by the language quoted by the Former Beneficiaries from

the Official Comments to TEDRA.

The Former Beneficiaries note that:

The Official Comments to TEDRA note that the definition of 'matter' was specifically changed to remove the requirement that there be a determination that the requested action not be inconsistent with the purposes of the will or trust. By making this change Washington formally adopts recent practice and adopts a rule that allows all interested parties to agree to the resolution of an issue or modification of the applicable documents.

Comments to SB5196 (1/28/1999) TEDRA §104(1) RCW 11.96A.030

(Appellants' Opening Brief, p.18 (original bold in text removed; underline added)).

C. The Trust Incorporated the Modification Restrictions set forth in the March TEDRA Agreement Requiring that The Modification Restrictions Be Followed.

Paragraph 3.3 of the Trust agreement states, in pertinent part:

Rights Personal to Trustor Subject to Binding Non-Judicial Agreement. . . . Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, such rights are subject to that certain Non-Judicial Agreement regarding the J. Thomas Bernard Revocable Living Trust Agreement ("TEDRA") of even date herewith and are not exercisable by Trustor unless and until Trustor obtains the court order required by such agreement and otherwise satisfies all of the requirements imposed by the TEDRA. If and to the extent such TEDRA is determined to be unenforceable for any reason, the restrictions on Trustor's right to revoke, modify, and/or withdraw property from this Trust as stated therein shall be incorporated in this Agreement by reference and shall remain fully enforceable against the Trustor.

(CP 208 (underline added; bold in original).)

The Trust specifically set forth that, if for any reason, the March
TEDRA was unenforceable, the restrictions "shall be incorporated in this
Agreement and shall remain fully enforceable against the Trustor."

1. <u>It was Tom's intent that the modification restrictions be followed.</u>

As case law sets forth, the intent of the trustor is determined from the language of the trust document. *Hastings*, 60 Wn.2d at 823.

As set forth in the statement of facts above, it is easy to see why the modification restrictions would be important to someone in Tom's vulnerable position. He was suffering from a significant mental decline and he was aware that he was suffering from a mental decline. (CP 744, "I have serious memory problems"; CP 992, "I have been diagnosed with dementia and I experience substantial, consistent short-term memory impairment.") The modification restrictions make sense given Tom's diminishing mental health. (Recall that Dr. Eisenhauer diagnosed Tom with frontal lobe dementia in June 2008, almost a year before the March Agreement, as part of the guardianship proceeding commenced by Tom's son.)

In order to protect himself from any unwanted or mischievous changes to his estate planning, Tom required that a specific protocol be

followed before any one of his estate planning documents could be changed. None of the three conditions were met: (1) no petition for a hearing was served or filed; (2) no portion of the notice requirements nor the substantive and procedural provisions of RCW 11.96A were complied with; and (3) no hearing was held and (4) no court issued an order approving the amendment, all explicitly required by the March TEDRA and Trust.

2. The Trust required Tom to substantially comply with the modification restrictions, which he failed to do.

The Washington Supreme Court has held: "Where the trust instrument specifies the method of revocation, only that method can be used." *In re Button's Estate*, 79 Wn.2d 849, 852, 490 P.2d 731 (1971) (where trust required written document delivered to the trustee to revoke or amend trust, written document delivered to attorney held insufficient); *In re Estate of Furst*, 113 Wn. App. 839, 842, 55 P.3d 664 (2002) *citing In re Button's Estate*, 79 Wn.2d 849. Strict compliance with the method of revocation is not required, but there must be at least substantial compliance. *In Re Estate of Tosh*, 89 Wn. App. 158, 161-62, 920 P.2d 1230 (1996) (actual or substantial compliance with trust language is required for trust amendment).

The Former Beneficiaries argue that while a statutory basis for modification may supercede the common law, that substantial compliance to the manner specified to modify a trust must occur. In support of this proposition, the Former Beneficiaries cite Manary v. Anderson, 176 Wn.2d 342, 292 P.3d 96 (2013). Manary addressed the application of RCW 11.11.020, the "superwill statute," regarding the testamentary disposition of nonprobate assets and whether it could alter the disposition set forth in a trust where trust property was gifted through the will. Manary is only instructive to the extent that the Manary court held that the testator in that case correctly complied with the requirements of the "super will statute." Here the Former Beneficiaries argument that a statutory basis may supercede the common law falls on its face because Tom did not comply with the subject matter, notice, and hearing requirements of the statute and trust agreement to satisfy the requirements for a TEDRA modification.

3. <u>Substantial compliance requires near strict performance.</u>

"Substantial compliance" has been defined by the Washington Supreme Court to mean "closely in conformance." Williams v. Bank of California, N.A., 96 Wn.2d 860, 639 P.2d 1339 (1982). Substantial compliance or performance is a doctrine applied to many areas of contract law, including trusts. Williams v. Bank of California, N.A., 96 Wn.2d 860,

639 P.2d 1339 (1982) (applying "substantial compliance" to trust issue); Allen v. Abrahamson, 12 Wn. App. 103, 529 P.2d 469 (1974) (applying "substantial compliance" to amendment of life insurance beneficiary); Mortimer v. Dirks, 57 Wash. 402, 107 P. 184 (1910) (applying "substantial performance" to dispute over construction defects).

The equitable doctrine of substantial performance is intended for the protection and relief of those who have faithfully and honestly endeavored to perform their contracts in all material and substantial particulars, so that their right to compensation may not be forfeited by reason of mere technical, inadvertent, and unimportant omissions or defects.

Mortimer, 57 Wash. at 405 (emphasis added).

Taken together, the above cases indicate that substantial compliance requires near perfect compliance with the terms of the contract while forgiving any deviations are so trivial as to have no effect on the overall purpose and intent of the contract. The changes herein substantially changed Tom's estate plan by adding a new charity; disinheriting the Family Beneficiaries; and bequeathing 55% of the estate to recent employees. The modification restrictions were specifically and expressly designed to require court oversight of any changes to Tom's estate planning, and this attempted use of a second TEDRA agreement to circumvent those requirements entirely does not meet "substantial compliance."

a. Requirement 1: There was no petition for a hearing.

It is undisputed that there was no petition for a court hearing to approve the Trust amendment and codicil signed on August 22, 2009.

The filing of a petition was a material term of the trust. Failure to petition the court was not a mere "technical, inadvertent, and unimportant omission," it was an intentional and substantial deviation from the express terms of the trust. *Mortimer*, 57 Wash. at 405. The significance of a petition for a hearing is underscored by the fact that the petition must "clearly and specifically set[] forth a particular proposal for an exercise of his [Tom's] Modification Powers." (CP 204.) In other words, Tom desired that a court would review the modifications sought to be made.

b. Requirement 2: Tom did not comply with the substantive and procedural provisions of RCW 11.96A, as required by the trust.

The second restriction that was required to be met before Tom could exercise his modification powers was to serve a summons on James "and otherwise compl[y] with the substantive and procedural provisions of RCW 11.96A."

Clearly the summons requirement to James was so that James would receive notice of the proposed change and have an opportunity to object. It is conceivable that James' execution of the August TEDRA agreement was substantial compliance with the notice provision to James.

This, however, should not be confused or conflated to mean that no hearing was required because James approved of the changes via the August TEDRA agreement.

 To comply with the substantive and procedural provisions of RCW 11.96A, all interested parties must also receive notice of the hearing.

No notice was given to any of the alternate contingent beneficiaries of the change to the Trust. The requirement that the Family Beneficiaries and charities receive notice of any modification was included in the Trust for Tom's protection. Failure to file a petition and notify all beneficiaries of his intent to exercise his modification powers rendered the Trust modification "null and void," by its own specific language.

The first modification restriction required that there be a petition for a hearing under RCW 11.96A. Accordingly, in order to meet the second provision that Tom comply with the substantive and procedural provisions of RCW 11.96A, he was required to give notice to all interested parties as set forth in RCW 11.96A.110 (1).

RCW 11.96A.110 (1) provides in pertinent part:

..., in all judicial proceedings under this title that require notice, the notice must be personally served on or mailed to all <u>parties or the parties' virtual</u> representatives at least 20 days before the hearing on the petition unless a different period is provided by

statute or ordered by the court.

(Emphasis added.)

As was set forth in section B.1.b, *supra*, the Family Beneficiaries and charities are included in the definition of parties for purposes of RCW 11.96A.

The Former Beneficiaries ask this Court to ignore all the definitional provisions of RCW 11.96A when arguing that the Family Beneficiaries and the charitable beneficiaries were not parties interested in the proceedings who should have received notice.

The Former Beneficiaries argue that no other parties required notice because "the notice requirement arose entirely from the March TEDRA because under Washington law the court lacked jurisdiction over an individual's estate plan during the testator's lifetime." (Appellants' Opening Brief, p.19.)

This argument is flawed in at least two respects. First, the Former Beneficiaries ignore the fact that the provision of the modification restrictions requiring notice; a hearing; and court order; and "otherwise comply with the substantive and procedural provisions of RCW 11.96A", which was specifically incorporated into the Trust. (CP 204; CP 208.)

Second, the case law that Former Beneficiaries rely on for the proposition that "the court lacks jurisdiction over an individual's estate

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